I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioner is Wanda Riley-Hordyk. 

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the decision from the Court of Appeals, 

Division II, in Riley-Hordyk v. Bethel Sch. Dist., No. 45830-6-11 (May 19, 

2015). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

3.1 Whether a teacher or principal's rights under the continuing 

contract statute can be waived by a collective bargaining agreement when 

another statute forbids principals from bargaining on such subjects, i.e., 

can the Court of Appeals ignore the law. 

3.2 Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion is contrary to its 

prior holding in Peters v. S. Kitsap Sch. Dist., 8 Wn. App. 809, 509 P.2d 

67 (1973). 

3.3 Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion is contrary to the 

continuing contract statute, RCW 28A.405.31 0. 

3.4 Whether the Court of Appeals erred by declining to address 

whether there had been a reduction in force. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Factual History: Petitioner Wanda Riley-Hordyk was first 

employed by the Bethel School District in 1990 as a Spanish teacher. CP 



129:12-13. She served as Spanish teacher until2002, when she elevated to 

the position of interim assistant principal. CP 130:2-6. In 2004, she 

applied for the position of principal at Bethel High School. CP 130:6-8. 

She was hired and served with distinction five and a half years. !d. 

In 2009, a dispute arose between Ms. Ri1ey-Hordyk and the 

District concerning an issue ofharassment Ms. Riley-Hordyk filed against 

a supervisory administrator. CP 139:14-24. Ms. Riley-Hordyk 

subsequently accessed the court system and initiated a lawsuit against the 

District. CP 71:4-7. That lawsuit was eventually resolved to the 

satisfaction of both parties. CP 57:20-51 :7; 482-86. 

As part of the settlement of the lawsuit, Ms. Riley-Hordyk was 

placed into the position of principal of the Bethel Online Academy (BOA). 

CP 105:23. Her tenure in that position was short yet successful. Further, 

when she went into the position as principal of BOA, she was specifically 

informed that her position was to be classified as being a high school 

principal. CP 105:23. The superintendent has a duty to recommend 

principals that are candidates for transfer of position according to state law 

to the school board for decision, and has done so with other employees. 

CP 88:12-13; 110:15-111:3; 10483. 

However, on May 9, 2012, the Superintendent of the Bethel School 

District issued a letter of non-renewal to Ms. Riley-Hordyk, explaining the 
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reasons for the decision as insufficient revenue to maintain the current 

level of programs and services in the District. CP I 03:73. All other staff 

members of the BOA were accommodated with a job elsewhere in the 

District. CP I 54: I7-20. None of the retained individuals appear to have 

instituted a prior lawsuit against the District. 

At the time the letter was issued, Ms. Riley-Hordyk was employed 

in the position of "principal." In 20II-20I2, there were 27 principals in 

the District. CP 32:14-I5. The following year, after her position was 

supposedly eliminated, there were still 27 principals. CP 32:2I-26:1. 

Because no reduction in force actually occurred, the District 

Superintendent had a duty to recommend Ms. Riley-Hordyk for transfer. 

CP I0483. 

The District contends that it reduced the number of assistant 

principal positions, while leaving the number of principals totals the same. 

CP I 03:23-97:3. This is true; however, no assistant principal was 

displaced. CP 104: I7-21. Three were hired as assistant principals in 

different schools, and three were offered other administrative positions. Id. 

At the same time the District hired a candidate from out of state to fill a 

purportedly vacant principal position. CP 87:I7-23. Therefore, there were 

no necessary reductions by the time Riley's contract ended on July I, 

20I2. Specifically, when Ms. Riley-Hordyk's contract ended on July I, the 
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District never reduced its staff of principals; it continued to maintain 27 

principals in the district for the following school year just as it did in the 

previous year despite its claimed "reduction in force." CP 98:12-15. 

On February 14, 2012, a public hearing on BOA concluded that it 

should be closed. CP 75:21-69:2. On February 28, 2012 the School Board 

met and voted to accept the Administration's recommendation to close 

BOA, which allowed the matter to go on to the required public hearings in 

order to formally close BOA. CP 105:31. As of the 28th of February, at 

the latest, District administrators needed to give consideration to Riley's 

statutory continuing contract rights for continued employment in the 

Bethel School District in the 2012-2013 school year. They did not do so. 

Todd Mitchell, the District's Human Resources Director, testified that Ms. 

Riley-Hordyk was not considered for transfer to another position because 

the District had decided to label her termination as a reduction in force. CP 

110:15-104:3. 

Because this was inaccurate, on February 16, 2012, Ms. Riley

Hordyk began to request transfers to open principal positions. CP 104:88. 

Mr. Mitchell discouraged Ms. Riley-Hordyk from actually applying for 

positions under the premise that her termination was not finalized. CP 

158:18-21. On March 1, 2012, Ms. Riley-Hordyk asked to be transferred 

into the open Spanaway Lake Principal position. CP 104:92. On March 
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26, 2012, Ms. Riley-Hordyk requested a transfer to an open middle school 

principal position at Frontier. CP 104:97. On April 27, 2012, well after 

the vote on the closure of the BOA, the District announced that it had 

hired Mark Barnes from Colorado to fill an open principal position in the 

District, the same position Ms. Riley-Hordyk had requested in March. CP 

87:17-23; 105:04. 

In every instance that Ms. Riley-Hordyk requested consideration 

for transfer to a principal position for which she was imminently qualified, 

however, the District denied the request because it incorrectly believed 

that she had to apply to the positions "like anybody else," current 

employee or not. CP 59:8-15; 77:23-78:1. Mr. Mitchell admitted that, in 

the absence of a reduction in force designation, Ms. Riley-Hordyk would 

have been entitled to transfer to an open teaching position for which she 

was qualified. CP 98:19-99:19. 

Procedural History: The hearing officer found sufficient cause to 

uphold Bethel School District's termination of Ms. Riley-Hordyk as part 

of a reduction in force, despite the fact that there were no _administrators 

displaced from the Bethel School District after the 2012 school year. CP 9. 

The hearing officer concluded that Peters v. S. Kitsap Sch. Dist., 8 Wn. 

App. 809, 509 P.2d 67 (1973), had been abrogated by subsequent 

legislative enactments. Petit{oner appealed to superior court, which 
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upheld the hearing officer's decision on all grounds. Petitioner then 

appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals. The Court upheld the 

decision of the hearing officer, but on different grounds. While concluding 

that Peters had not been abrogated, the Court held that the case was not 

applicable here and that any rights Ms. Riley-Hordyk had to continuing 

employment had been waived by the collective bargaining agreement. A 

copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Petitioner now seeks 

review in this Court. 

V. ARGUMENT 

This case is important because school districts have begun to 

deliberately skirt the continuing contract rights of principals, by using a 

variety of tactics that are clearly contrary to RCW 28A.405.230. By 

permitting the Court of Appeals decision to stand, this Court allows the 

school districts to continue to ignore plain statutes, clear legislative intent, 

and numerous cases of Washington courts. This is true because the 

tautological gymnastics employed by the Court of Appeals demonstrates to 

the school districts a willingness to adopt any _argument, no matter how 

contrary to law, to achieve the results desired by the school districts. 

The need to review this case is found in RAP 13 .4(b ), 

considerations 1, 2, and 4. First, the decision of Division Two is in conflict 

with decisions of the Supreme Court. Second, the decision is in conflict 
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with other decisions in the Court of Appeals. Third, this petition involves 

an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the 

Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals erred by misconstruing RCW 

28A.405.210, disregarding the holdings of Peters v. South Kitsap School 

District No. 402, 8 Wn. App. 809, 509 P .2d 67 (1973), and Kelso 

Education Association v. Kelso School District 453, 48 Wn. App. 743, 749, 

7 40 P .2d 889, review denied, 1 09 W n.2d 1 011 (1987), and holding that the 

collective bargaining agreement waived Ms. Riley-Hordyk's right to 

continued employment with the District, even though principals are 

statutorily prohibited from bargaining on that subject matter. 

A. The Court of Appeals decision violates clear mandates of 
public policies and encourages school districts to flaunt such 
policy. 

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals ignored numerous cases 

dealing with continuing contract rights and declines in enrollment. 

Instead, the Court of Appeals built its decision on the concept that those 

cases are irrelevant because the Collective Bargaining Agreement in this 

case waived the Appellant's statutory rights. It said: 

Riley-Hordyk argues that Peters gives her the right to 
transfer to open positions. We disagree because Riley
Hordyk's CBA waived the statutory right to transfer 
discussed in Peters. 

Opini~n at 12. However, such a waiver is actually prohibited by a 
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statute ignored by the Court of Appeals. 

The Court ruled that Section 8 of the Collective Bargaining 

Agreement operated as a waiver of any rights Ms. Riley-Hordyk had 

under the nonrenewal statute. This holding is plainly contrary to RCW 

41.59.080 which expressly limits what principals and assistant principals 

may bargain for. RCW 41.59.080 states: 

(7) Notwithstanding the definition of collective bargaining, 
a unit that contains only supervisors and/or principals and 
assistant principals shall be limited in scope of bargaining 
to compensation, hours of work, and the number of days of 
work in the annual employment contracts. 

RCW 41.59.080. Far from allowing principals to collectively agree to 

waive their statutory rights, this statute limits what principals may 

bargain for. The statute does not allow for discussion of waiver, or even 

transfer. It certainly does not permit any bargaining with regard to a 

reduction in force. 

It is therefore statutorily impossible for Ms. Riley-Hordyk to 

have waived her statutory rights because her bargaining unit was not 

legally permitted to address that issue. The Court of Appeals' attempt to 

re-write the clear intention of the legislature must be addressed by this 

Court. 

This sort of flawed opinion demonstrates to the school districts 

. that even unsound legal theories will be given credence, and statutes will 
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be ignored. That this case is unpublished makes no difference to the 

districts that read unpublished opinions and learn new ways to avoid 

legislative intent, and clear statutory authority. Because Appellant could 

not have waived her statutory rights, the Court of Appeals was not 

permitted to ignore the precedent of this Court, and its own precedent. 

B. The ruling that Ms. Riley-Hordyk had no right to a transfer is 
in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of 
Appeals. 

1. The Court of Appeals' decision IS contrary to Peters v. S. 
Kitsap Sch. Dist. 

The Court of Appeals' holding that Ms. Riley-Hordyk was not 

entitled to be offered any of the many open principal positions within the 

District is contrary to its earlier opinion in Peters v. South Kitsap School 

District No. 402, 8 Wn. App. 809, 509 P.2d 67 (1973), and all cases 

reaffirming it. Pursuant to the Continuing Contract Law (RCW 

28A.405.210) and Peters, the District was required to offer jobs to internal 

candidates before opening the positions to the general public. As stated by 

the Peters court: 

-
"We turn now to the central question with which we are 
concerned. Once a contract is properly nonrenewed because 
of a financial reduction in personnel, what duty does the 
district owe to the nonrenewed employee with respect to 
vacancies which might occur prior to the expiration of his 
existing contract .... ? 

. . . Even though the financial requirements of the district 
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may require reduction in staff, individual teachers who 
have been properly nonrenewed solely for that reason do 
not lose their statutory right to reemployment until their 
contract is actually terminated. Thus, the district may not 
approach the task of selecting personnel to fill vacancies 
that occur after some teachers have been nonrenewed 
without first giving effect to the continuing contract rights 
of those nonrenewed teachers .... " 

... When the school board turns to this task [determining 
the educational needs, curricula and resources for the 
ensuing school year], it must continue the contracts of those 
teachers who have qualifications that satisfy its needs. 
Thus, even though a teacher is properly notified and 
nonrenewed on the grounds of financial necessity, a change 
in the needs of the district before actual termination of the 
teacher's contract compels a reconsideration of the 
nonrenewal." 

Peters, 8 Wn. App. at 815-6. [Emphasis added.] 

This principle was later confirmed by the Washington State 

Supreme Court, which stated: 

In Peters, the Court of Appeals, Division Two, said that 
where a teacher is nonrenewed for financial reasons, he 
must be offered any job for which he is qualified, which 
becomes available before 'termination ofhis contract.' 

Johnson v. Central Valley Sch. Dist. No. 356, 97 Wn.2d 419, 434, 645 

P.2d 1088 (1982) (citing Peters, 8 Wn. App. 809). 1 Taken together, 

Johnson and Peters impose an affirmative duty on the District to "offer" 

open positions to Ms. Riley-Hordyk, and then transfer her to one of the 

open positions. To read the opinion otherwise gives the provision no 

1 This principle was held not to apply in that case, as the plaintiff did not hold a valid 
certificate. Johnson, 97 Wn.2d at 434. 
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force: the District could simply state that it considered nonrenewed 

employees for a job, and then chose in each instance to offer the job to 

someone else. 

Here, under Peters, the District was not permitted to eliminate Ms. 

Riley-Hordyk's continuing contract rights without first offering her any 

open positions that might have been available. The District, rather than 

offering her the various open positions, falsely claimed she had to apply 

for open positions. Indeed, the District went so far as to hire a principal 

from out of the state rather than to offer Ms. Riley-Hordyk a position that 

she clearly was qualified to hold. As a consequence the only principal or 

assistant principal that lost her job and was not offered a new position was 

Ms. Riley-Hordyk. As the Peters court explained: 

Filling the needs so established is another question. When 
the school board turns to this task, it must continue the 
contracts of those teachers who have qualifications that 
satisfy its needs. Thus, even though a teacher is properly 
notified and nonrenewed on the grounds of financial 
necessity, a change in the needs of the district before actual 
termination of the teacher's contract compels a 
reconsideration of the nonrenewal ... 

Moreover, when it becomes apparent that vacancies will 
occur following a personnel reduction, we think due 
process principles require that the district promulgate 
specific criteria to apply in satisfying its needs. Such 
criteria should clearly reflect the district's program 
requirements, set forth the requisite qualifications, and 
announce guidelines by which length of service will be 
considered. 

11 



Peters, 8 Wn. App. at 813-817. 

That did not occur here. Despite Ms. Riley-Hordyk's repeated 

efforts to claim open principal positions for which she was imminently 

qualified to hold, her requests were refused, over and over again. Instead, 

less senior, less qualified, less experienced administrators were moved 

into the District's open positions. Finally, despite an open position, the 

District again ignored Ms. Riley-Hordyk's continuing contract rights and 

hired a new principal from out of the state of Washington, and terminated 

the rights of Ms. Riley-Hordyk to her continuing contract. 

The Court of Appeals' reason for distinguishing Peters is that the 

case was decided before promulgation of the collective bargaining statute, 

chapter 41.59 RCW. This holding ignores the fact that Peters has been 

reaffirmed on numerous occasions, both by the Court of Appeals and the 

Supreme Court, since the passage of the Educational Employment 

Relations Act in 1975. In Moldt v. Tacoma School Dist. No. 10, 103 Wn. 

App. 4 72, 12 P .3d 1042 (2000), the Court of Appeals held that "[a ]lthough 

not a true tenure law, the continuing contract law is similar to tenure 

laws." (citing Peters, 8 Wn. App. at 813-14). Arnim v. Shoreline Sch. 

Dist. No. 412, 23 Wn. App. 150, 154, 594 P.2d 1380 (1979), similarly 

relies on Peters, stating "[Peters] affords reemployment rights to all 

12 



covered employees." Similarly, Johnson v. Central Valley School District 

deals with events that occurred in 1978-1979. Johnson, 97 Wn.2d at 420-

21. In Johnson, the Washington Supreme Court expressly demonstrated 

that Peters remained good law subsequent to the legislature's 1976 

changes to the statutes. !d. at 434. Notably, these cases were decided well 

after the enactment of the EERA in 1975, and dealt with factual situations 

that arose after that enactment was in effect. There is thus no support for 

the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Peters only applies in the absence of 

collective bargaining agreements. 

This Court should accept revtew of this case, so that it may 

correctly apply the precedent set out by Peters and Johnson. 

2. The right of transfer upon nonrenewal cannot be waived by 
collective bargaining agreement. 

The Court of Appeals erred in its holding that the right of transfer 

upon nonrenewal, as articulated in Peters, is a private statutory right that 

can be waived via collective bargaining agreement. This holding ignores 

the Court of Appeals' own precedent on this issue. 

While a collective bargaining agreement can watve certain 

statutory rights, it cannot do so when waiver of the right would violate 

public policy. Shoreline Cmty. Coli. Dist. No. 7 v. Emp 't Sec. Dep't, 120 

Wn.2d 394, 409-10, 842 P.2d 938 (1992). Thus, "[w]here a statutorily 
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created private right serves a public policy purpose, the persons protected 

by the statute cannot waive the right either individually or through the 

collective bargaining process." !d. at 410 (citing Kelso Educ. Ass'n v. 

Kelso Sch. Dist. 453, 48 Wn. App. 743, 749, 740 P.2d 889, review denied, 

109 Wn.2d 1011 (1987)). 

Division II of the Court of Appeals has already determined that the 

rights promulgated by RCW 28A.405.21 0 cannot be waived via collective 

bargaining agreement. In Kelso Education Association v. Kelso School 

District 453, 48 Wn. App. 743, 749, 740 P.2d 889, review denied, 109 

Wn.2d 1011 (1987), the Court of Appeals examined whether a collective 

bargaining agreement could waive a teacher's right to continuing contract 

protection. The Court held that it could not: 

Even if the teachers had waived their right, this waiver 
would be ineffective as against public policy. In A.G.L.O., 
1974, No. 59, the attorney general opined that a school 
district may not offer a contract to an individual containing 
a condition that the employee waive his continuing contract 
rights under RCW 28A.67.070. In addition, the attorney 
general held that if an employee did sign such a waiver, the 
waiver would not be valid or enforceable. A.G.L.O., 1974, 
No. 59. 

Kelso, 48 Wn. App. at 748-49. This holding was reaffirmed by the 

Supreme Court in Shoreline. 120 Wn.2d at 409-10. 

The Court's opinion in this case does not purport to overturn 

Kelso. In fact, the opinion contains no discussion whatsoever· of Kelso. 
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Its failure to consider prior binding precedent constitutes manifest error 

that the Supreme Court should correct. Furthermore, as Kelso remains 

binding precedent, the Court of Appeals has created a conflict that requires 

resolution by the Supreme Court. 

Moreover, although Shoreline indicates that a collective bargaining 

agreement can waive an employee's statutory rights, there is no indication 

in that case or any other in Washington that a collective bargaining 

agreement may waive an employee's constitutional rights. The right to 

transfer to a vacant position if nonrenewed for financial reasons was 

characterized by the Court in Peters as a due process right. 8 Wn. App. at 

816-17. This characterization is consistent with more recent decisions, 

which hold that all certificated teachers and principals have a property 

right in continued employment, for which they are entitled to

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