Received
Washington State Supreme Court

JUL 17 2015

Ronald R. da peote

No. ____COURTS OF APPEALS 45830-6-II

91840-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WANDA RILEY-HORDYK,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, LLP

William A. Coats, WSBA #4608 Daniel C. Montopoli, WSBA #26217 Attorneys for Respondent Bethel School District

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 1900 P. O. Box 1315 Tacoma, WA 98401-1315 Telephone: (253) 383-3791

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

The statute, however, permits school districts to prevent the renewal of employee contracts for cause. RCW 28A.405.210. Such nonrenewal of a contract typically occurs when performance deficiencies, declining enrollment or economic difficulties lead a school district to conclude that the retention of the employee's services would be inappropriate. *See, e.g., Barnes v. Seattle School District*, 88 Wn.2d 483, 487, 563 P.2d 199 (1977); *Robel v. Highline School District*, 65 Wn.2d 477, 485, 398 P.2d 1 (1965); RCW 28A.405.210.

D. The decision to not renew an employee's contract may only be reversed if the district acted illegally, with bad faith, or in an arbitrary and capricious manner.

A school district's right to nonrenew a certificated employee may be set aside only if the district acted illegally, with bad faith, or in an arbitrary and capricious manner. See Diedrick v. School Dist. 81, 87 Wn.2d 598, 607, 555 P.2d 825 (1976); Refai v. Central Washington

University, 49 Wn. App. 1, 8, 742 P.2d 137 (1987). As the Washington Supreme Court has held:

[A] district properly may reduce salaries and require the same job to be performed, or it may abolish and consolidate employment positions and impose the duties on other employees where done in good faith and in a manner consistent with the district's economic exigencies or other requirements.

Diedrick, 87 Wn. 2d at 605. Because the school district did not act arbitrarily or capriciously, the *Diedrick* court upheld the district's personnel decisions, which included the nonrenewal of teachers and administrators. *Id.* at 609.

In addition, an employee disagreeing with the judgment exercised by an employer does not mean that the employer acted arbitrarily and capriciously. *See, e.g., City of Federal Way v. Pub. Employment Relations Comm'n*, 93 Wn. App. 509, 514, 970 P.2d 752 (1998) ("When room for two opinions exists, an action is not arbitrary and capricious even though one believes the conclusion is erroneous.")

Rather, an employer's action is "arbitrary and capricious" if it is willful and unreasoning and taken without regard to the surrounding facts and circumstances. *Cox v. Lynnwood*, 72 Wn. App. 1, 6, 863 P.2d 578 (1993) (citing *Washington Waste Sys, Inc. v. Clark Cy.*, 115 Wn.2d 74, 81, 794 P.2d 508 (1990)). Evaluating whether an agency's decision was arbitrary and capricious involves evaluating the evidence considered by the agency in making its decision. *Pierce County Sheriff v. Civil Serv. Comm'n*, 98 Wn.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983). In addition, "[w]here

there is room for two opinions, action is not arbitrary or capricious when exercised honestly and upon due consideration." *Landmark Development, Incorporated v. City of Roy*, 138 Wn.2d 561, 573, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999) (quoting *DuPont-Fort Lewis Sch. Dist. No. 7 v. Bruno*, 79 Wn.2d 736, 739, 489 P.2d 171 (1971)). Furthermore, the burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting invalidity. *Apostolis v. Seattle*, 101 Wn. App. 300, 304, 3 P.3d 198 (2000).

Here, the financial need to reduce expenditures for the 2012-13 school year was well established. As the hearing officer found, the decision to close the BOA was based upon a projected operating loss of \$330,000 for the BOA for the 2012-13 school year and declining revenues overall for the District. CP 15.

Moreover, as the Court of Appeals noted, Riley-Hordyk did not assign error to the hearing officer's findings of financial distress for the District. For this reason, these findings of economic distress are verities on appeal. Opinion at 8. In addition, the Court of Appeals noted that the findings were also supported by substantial evidence. Opinion at 8, n.10.

E. In the absence of a statute or a contract granting the right to transfer, an employee has no right to transfer to another position.

Except as otherwise may be provided by statute or in a collective bargaining agreement, the employment relationship with a school district is governed by principles of general contract law. *See Corcoran v. Lyle Sch. Dist. No. 406*, 20 Wn. App. 621, 623, 581 P.2d 185, 187 (1978)

("Beyond the statutory rights contained in the continuing contract law, the relationship between the school district and its employees is a contractual one governed by general principles of law.") Because the teacher in *Corcoran* failed to comply with the statutory requirements for signing his employment contract, the court held that the teacher had no due process rights to continued employment. *Id.* at 623-25.

٠.

Indeed, any due process right that a certificated employee has to continuing employment must derive from a property interest created by state law. As the Ninth Circuit has held: "To state a claim under the Due Process Clause, a plaintiff must first establish that he possessed a "property interest" that is deserving of constitutional protection." *Brewster v. Bd. of Educ. of Lynwood Unified Sch. Dist.*, 149 F.3d 971, 982 (9th Cir. 1998) (citing *Gilbert v. Homar*, 520 U.S. 924, 117 S. Ct. 1807, 1811, 138 L.Ed.2d 120 (1997)). To possess a property interest in a benefit such as the automatic right to transfer, "an individual must have more than 'an abstract need or desire for it' or 'a unilateral expectation of it." *Brewster*, 149 F.3d at 982 (quoting *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 577, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972)).

Rather, as the Supreme Court has explained, these due process property interests must derive from state law:

Property interests ... are not created by the Constitution. Rather they are created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law-rules or understandings that secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits.

Roth, 408 U.S. at 577. Thus, it is Washington law that governs a public employee's due process claim and determines whether that employee has a due process right to transfer.

Here, there is no statute, collective bargaining agreement, or contract entitling Riley-Hordyk to transfer to another principal position. The District's notice to Riley-Hordyk stated specifically that she had no right to transfer to another position.

In the absence of any statutory or contractual right to transfer, Riley-Hordyk has no right to transfer.

Riley-Hordyk, however, primarily relies upon a 1973 case, *Peters* v. South Kitsap School District, to argue that the District was required to transfer her. Petition at 1, 9-13. According to Petioner, *Peters* imposes "an affirmative duty on the District to 'offer' open positions to Riley-Hordyk, and then transfer her to one of the open positions." Pet. at 10.

As the hearing officer, the superior court, and the Court of Appeals have held, however, *Peters* has no bearing on this case. There are three reasons why *Peters* is not relevant.

First, the actual holding of *Peters* is quite narrow. In *Peters*, the court held that a school district was not required to offer a nonrenewed teacher a different teaching position at the expense of another teacher solely because the nonrenewed teacher had greater seniority. 8 Wn. App. at 815. Because seniority is not an issue here, *Peters* is inapplicable.

Second, to the extent that *Peters* may be read more broadly, the case states only that a nonrenewed teacher has the right to apply for vacant

positions and that a school district should use objective criteria when reviewing candidates, but that the school district is under no obligation to create a position for the nonrenewed employee. *Id.* at 816-17. Here, Riley-Hordyk applied for only one vacant position, but then never went to the interview. Because she never really applied for a position, *Peters*, even when read broadly, is not applicable.

Finally, *Peters* was decided in 1973, *before* the Legislature enacted statutes governing collective bargaining by principals and allowing school districts to transfer principals to subordinate positions. The *Peters* case itself notes that Washington is not a "true tenure" state and that any expectation of continued employment or reemployment rights derives from statute. *Peters* at 813. The subsequent enactment of statutes allowing for collective bargaining (RCW 41.59) and for the transfer of principals (RCW 28A.405.230) abrogates the holding of *Peters* advocated by Riley-Hordyk. Moreover, the collective bargaining agreement between the District and the Bethel Principal's Association only provides for the transfer to a teaching position. Given the terms of the CBA and the enactments of RCW 41.59 and 28A.405.230, the hearing officer, Superior Court and Court of Appeals correctly determined that *Peters* has no relevance to the case at hand.

F. Riley-Hordyk's continued reliance upon *Peters* is misplaced and not supported by current law.

Riley-Hordyk's statement that "continuing contract law" and Peters requires districts to offer a position to "internal candidates before opening the positions" to others, Pet. at 9, is not an accurate state of the law nor an accurate reading of *Peters*. Furthermore, *Peters*, a case decided over 40 years ago, predates more recent statutes that affect the reemployment rights of nonrenewed principals. As discussed in the following section, these statutory developments undercut Riley-Hordyk's attempts to make *Peters* relevant to the case at hand. ¹

Any due process right that a teacher has to continuing employment or to transfer must derive from a property interest created by state law. *See Roth, supra.* Thus, it is Washington law that governs whether a public employee's due process claim. The *Peters* court recognized this requirement when it noted that the reemployment rights of nonrenewed teachers are controlled by RCW 28A.67.070, the continuing contract law in effect in 1973. *Peters* at 810 n.1, 813-14. Since *Peters,* however, the legislature has enacted two statutes that affect the property interests and reemployment rights of principals.

In 1975, the collective bargaining statute for certificated employees, RCW 41.59, was passed. The purpose of the statute is:

to prescribe certain rights and obligations of the educational employees of the school districts of the state of Washington, and to establish procedures governing the

¹ In an attempt to bolster *Peters* and make the case relevant, the Petitioner misquotes *Arnim v. Shoreline Sch. Dist. No. 412*, 23 Wn. App. 150, 594 P.2d 1380 (1979). According to the Petitioner, the *Armin* court stated: "[*Peters*] affords reemployment rights to all covered employees." Pet. at 12-13 (citing *Armin* at 154). But that is the not what the *Armin* court stated; rather, *Armin* was referring to RCW 28A.67.070—and not *Peters*—as the source of law affording "reemployment rights to all covered employees." *Armin*, 23 Wn. App. at 23.

relationship between such employees and their employers which are designed to meet the special requirements and needs of public employment in education.

RCW 41.59.010. Under the statute, employees have the right to bargain collectively and to enter into collective bargaining agreements. *See* RCW 41.59.060. The statute allows for a bargaining unit of principals and assistant principals. RCW 41.59.080(3).

After passage of the collective bargaining statute, collective bargaining agreements may provide specifically for the transfer of certificated employees and establish the rules for effectuating these transfers. See Lake Washington Sch. Dist. No. 414 v. Lake Washington Educ. Ass'n/Washington Educ. Ass'n, 109 Wn.2d 427, 428-29, 745 P.2d 504 (1987), amended sub nom. Lake Washington Sch. Dist. No. 414 v. Lake Washington Educ. Ass'n, 757 P.2d 533 (Wash. 1988). In Lake Washington, the court enforced the collective bargaining agreement and allowed the teachers to transfer because the agreement provided for the transfer. Id. at 435.

Conversely, a collective bargaining agreement may contain reduction in force and reemployment provisions that limit or destroy any right to transfer. Here, for example, the CBA between the District and the Bethel Principal's Association only provides for the transfer to a teaching position following a reduction in force:

In the absence of a reduction in force among Bethel Education Association staff [teachers], non-interim administrators in good standing, who lose their positions due to a reduction in force, will be considered for a contract

for an open teaching position for which he/she is qualified.

. . .

CP 402 (Art. 9, Sect. 8). The District considered transferring Riley-Hordyk to a Spanish teaching position—the only subject she was qualified to teach—but no positions were available. CP 107:7-108:3.

And in the 1975-76 session, the Legislature enacted RCW 28A.405.230, which allows districts to transfer principals with less than three years experience, to a subordinate certificated position:

Any certificated employee of a school district employed as . . . principal, assistant principal, coordinator, or in any other supervisory or administrative position, hereinafter in this section referred to as "administrator", shall be subject to transfer, at the expiration of the term of his or her employment contract, to any subordinate certificated position within the school district. "Subordinate certificated position" as used in this section, shall mean any administrative or nonadministrative certificated position for which the annual compensation is less than the position currently held by the administrator.

RCW 28A.405.230 (emphasis added). A nonadministrative certificated position is typically a teaching position. Thus the statute allows, but does not compel, a district to transfer a principal with less than three years experience to a lower-paying teaching position.

For principals with three or more years experience, RCW 28A.405.230 allows districts to unilaterally transfer them to another administrative position, provided that there is no reduction in salary. *Sneed v. Barna*, 80 Wn. App. 843, 848, 912 P.2d 1035, *rev. denied*, 129 Wn.2d 1023 (1996). As the *Sneed* court stated:

Under [RCW 28A.405.230], the District has the right to transfer tenured principals as long as their salaries are not reduced. This allows the employer to match the skills of the individual administrator with the District's needs, either or both of which may change from year to year.

Id. Thus, the *Sneed* court affirmed the transfer, even though the employee argued that the transfer "was in reality a demotion." *Id.* at 848-49.

By granting districts the discretion to unilaterally transfer a principal, the legislature has significantly gutted any "right to transfer" perceived by Riley-Hordyk in the *Peters* case. After RCW 28A.405.230.. Thus, Riley-Hordyk's argument that she has the right to transfer to an administrative position has no merit.

Under the CBA, RCW 41.59, RCW 281.405.230, or RCW 28A.405.210 (the modern day version of RCW 28A.67.070), there is no right to transfer. Under the law and the facts of this case, Riley-Hordyk has no right to transfer. Even if one believes that *Peters* might have given Riley-Hordyk the right to transfer in 1973, there is no right in 2013.

Thus, the *Peters* decision is not relevant to the case at hand.

G. Riley-Hordyk's argument that RCW 41.59.080(7) prohibits collective bargaining agreements from restricting employee transfers—raised for the first time in her petition—should be rejected by this Court.

In her Petition, Riley-Hordyk argues for the first time that RCW 41.59.080(7) prohibits collective bargaining agreements from affecting the transfer rights of employees. Pet. at 8, 13-14. In support of this argument,

Riley-Hordyk cites *Kelso Education Association v. Kelso School District*, 48 Wn. App. 743, 749, 740 P.2d 889 (1987). In briefing and in argument to the Court of Appeals, Riley-Hordyk never cited RCW 41.59.080(7) or the *Kelso Education Association* case.

An argument raised for the first time in a petition for review should not be considered by this Court. *See, e.g. Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn. 2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) ("This court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review.")

In addition, the holding of *Kelso*—that collective bargaining agreements cannot waive the continuing contract rights found in RCW 28A.67.070 (now RCW 28A.405.210)—is not relevant because there is no continuing contract right to automatically be transferred to another principal position. *See* Sections E & F *above*.

V. CONCLUSION

Because sufficient cause existed to not renew Riley-Hordyk's contract, and because the District did not act illegally, arbitrarily or capriciously, the District requests that this Court deny review of the decision by the Court of Appeals.